IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-CA-00905

W. W. WARREN

Appellant/Defendant

vs.

ROBERT DERIVAUX

Appellee/Plaintiff

On Appeal from the Chancery Court for the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLANT W., W. WARREN

Roy H. Liddell (N Clint D. Vanderver (MB # WELLS MARBLE & HURST, PLLC Post Office Box 131 Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0131 Telephone: (601) 605-6900

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 9
ARGUMENT11
1. Distinction Between Agreement and License
2. Intent is Determined From the Whole Instrument
3. To the Extent There is Uncertainty or Ambiguity Concerning Scope, the Court Should Review the Circumstances
4. Sign Location Violates Agreement
5. No Finding or Evidence of Prescriptive Easement
6. No Evidence in Record Supports Affirmance of Lost Profits Damages
CONCLUSION19
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 21

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Bivens v. Mobley, 724 So. 2d 458 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998)
Binder v. Weinberg, 48 So. 2d 1013 (Miss. 1909)
Capital Elec. Power Assoc. v. Hinson, 84 So. 2d 409 (Miss. 1956)
Crawford v. Butler, 2005 WL 3163511 (Miss. App. 2005)
Dethlefs v. Beau Maison Dev. Corp., 511 So. 2d 112 (Miss. 1987)
Dunlap Investors Ltd. v. Hogan, 650 P. 2d 432, 434 (Az. 1982)
Hotel Markham, Inc. v. Patterson, 451 So. 2d 255 (Miss. 1947)
IndymacBank, F.S.B. v. Young, No. 2006-CA-01175-COA, 2007 WL 3076928, at *4 (Miss. Ct. App. Oct. 23, 2007)
Keener Properties, L.L.C. v. Wilson, 912 So. 2d 954 (Miss. 2005)
Logan v. McGee, 320 So. 2d 792 (Miss. 1975)
Lynn v. Soterra Inc., 802 So. 2d 162 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)
Moran v. Sims, 873 So. 2d 1067 (Miss. App. 2004)
McDonald v. Board of Mississippi Levee Commissioners, 646 F.Supp 449 (N.D. Miss. 1986)
Rich ex rel. Brown v. Nevels, 578 So. 2d 609, 617 (Miss. 1991)
Sharp v. White, 741 So. 2d 41, 42 (Miss. 1999)
Other Authorities
25 Am. Jur. 2d, Easements and Licenses, § 15

FORM OF CITATIONS TO THE RECORD

References to transcribed testimony shall be designated as "Tr. ___." References to exhibits shall be the same as their marking as exhibits at trial. (*E.g.*, "P-1 ..." for Plaintiff/Appellee exhibits, "D-1 ..." for Defendant/Appellant exhibits.) References to record excerpts are referred to herein as "RE-__."

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The following issues are presented by this appeal:

- 1. Whether the chancery court erred in affirming, in part, the judgment in favor of Derivaux and against Warren, and in awarding Derivaux any relief;
- 2. Whether the chancery court erred in affirming that Derivaux and his successors in title have the right under the Agreement to park on four unspecified parking spaces in the lot south of the building formerly known as Bennigans;
- 3. Whether the chancery court erred in affirming that Derivaux and his successors in title have the right to erect a sign on Warren's property under the Agreement;
- 4. Whether the chancery court erred in affirming that the Agreement creates an easement for parking and signage rights to Derivaux and his successors in title;
- 5. Whether the chancery court erred in affirming an award of lost profits damages to Derivaux; and
- 6. Whether the chancery court erred in affirming the trial court's dismissal of Warren's counterclaim and not enjoining Derivaux and his successors in title from attempting to erect a sign or park on Warren's property, Warren having revoked all such privileges.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant/Appellant W. W. Warren ("Warren") appeals the ruling of the chancery court to the extent it upheld a clearly erroneous decision of the lower court construing a document titled "Reciprocal Easement" (hereinafter, the "Agreement") that was entered into in 1986 by Warren and a predecessor-in-title of Plaintiff/Appellee Robert Derivaux ("Derivaux").

The chancery court erred by affirming the lower court to the extent it construed the Agreement to grant three perpetual easements (one for access, one for cross-parking and one for signage) when the Agreement, according to its terms, only establishes one perpetual access easement for which Warren separately paid \$85,000 and two revocable privileges (for parking and signage) which were separately agreed to between Warren and Ron Smith, Derivaux's predecessor-in-title.

Warren respectfully asks that this Court reverse and render the judgment of the chancery court to the extent relief was granted in favor of Derivaux.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Warren owned a tract of commercial property near the southwest corner of the intersection of I-55 and Northside Drive in Jackson, Mississippi. In 1981, Warren leased his property to Bennigan's restaurant. (RE-024-037) Warren's property includes a building that housed the Bennigan's restaurant and an adjacent parking lot. At the time, Warren's property could be accessed directly from the frontage road beside I-55. Thereafter, as part of a highway construction project, 450 feet of Warren's frontage was taken for public use, leaving no means of ingress and egress to Warren's subject property and the Bennigan's restaurant that was situated thereon. (D-13 at p. 30) Out of necessity, Warren negotiated the purchase of an access easement with Ron Smith, who owned the property abutting the south border of Warren's property. (*Id.*) Warren paid \$85,000 for this easement. (*Id.* at p. 30)

After the easement was negotiated, Smith realized that he needed permission to erect a sign on the easement Warren had agreed to buy, and discussed this with Warren. (D-13 at p. 32) Warren had no right to give such permission, as Bennigan's controlled such rights during the pendency of its lease of Warren's property. (*Id.* at 33-34) Bennigan's, however, authorized Warren to negotiate with Smith permission to put up a sign on a certain location in exchange for the right to use certain parking spaces on Smith's property. (*Id.*) Bennigan's had the right to approve any encroachment on the property, including sign placement that could obscure sight of the Bennigan's sign that was on Warren's property. Smith and Warren also agreed as part of this deal that Smith could use four parking spaces on Warren's property. This permission arrangement between Warren and Smith concerning a sign and parking was never meant to create a conveyance of property and was never set forth in a conveyance with any specific property description, but was merely a grant of permission for signage placement and cross-parking to which Smith and Warren

agreed. Nor was the parking and signage rights given in exchange for the easement. Instead, the terms of the easement were reached before any understanding was reached regarding signage and parking.

On April 22, 1986, Warren and Ron Smith reduced their understandings to a written agreement styled "Reciprocal Easement" (the "Agreement"). (RE-038-042; Exh. D-1) This Agreement between Warren and Smith, which was approved by Bennigan's, established a single reciprocal "easement" over a specifically described parcel of property therein for purposes of providing ingress and egress to both properties. The Agreement also memorialized certain privileges of cross-parking between the properties and, in addition, permission for Smith to erect a sign at a particular location on Warren's property "as mutually agreed upon." (D-1). It is significant that the location of the sign, in terms of the distance from the boundary of the property, was specified in the Agreement, as per Bennigan's concern about signage blocking its sign. (D-1 at ¶ 4).

References in the Agreement to the easement created are clearly and separately identified in the Agreement as "Parcel #2-Easement" (see Exh. D-1 at Book 3213, Page 196 at ¶¶ 2 and 6) and, significantly, the easement is specifically described in a legal description attached to the Agreement (see Exh. D-1 at Book 3213, Page 198), also under the heading "Parcel #2-Easement". Specifically, the access easement language in the Agreement reads as follows:

"2. <u>Parcel #2-Easement.</u> This description shall be used only for ingress and egress purposes, and for no other reasons. Said description in <u>Parcel #2-Easement</u> shall never be blocked to impair it's [sic] continuous use for ingress-egress by all parties lawfully upon the lands, <u>Parcel #1-Fee</u>, and W.W. Warren property lying to the North, as shown by the plat attached. Said <u>Parcel #2-Easement</u> shall be kept "clear" at all times.

(Exh. D-1 at Book 3212, Page 196)

In contrast, the sign and cross-parking privileges are *not* identified in the Agreement as easements and are not accompanied by any metes and bounds legal description in the attachment to the Agreement. (*See* paragraphs 3. and 4. at Book 3212, Page 195 of the Agreement.) Indeed, the cross-parking privileges do not even specify the particular four parking spaces among over twenty on Warren's property on which Smith could park. (Tr. 53, 54, 128) The paragraph in the Agreement concerning the sign privilege is clearly marked "Business Sign" with no mention of any "easement," and it does not contain a metes and bounds description. In fact, none of the property descriptions attached to the Agreement apply to the signage or parking privileges.

Instead, the Agreement merely marks the location where Warren gave Smith permission to erect a business sign.

Hence, as reflected in the Agreement, Warren and Smith created: (a) an access easement over described property; (b) a privilege for Smith to erect a sign on a partial or location on Warren's property; and (c) a privilege for Smith to use four of Warren's parking spaces which were not specifically described on the property or otherwise enumerated. The privileges granted by Warren to Smith were intended to be personal to Smith given the context in which Smith and Warren were using their respective properties at the time.

Derivaux bought the Smith parcel in 1988 through a foreclosure. In 1991, Derivaux removed the existing sign and erected a new business sign *on a different location*, without securing any "mutual agreement" from Warren. (Tr. 59-60) In fact, this was done without Warren's permission or that of Warren's tenant, Bennigan's, who was in possession of the property. (Tr. 138-139)

Derivaux admits that his new sign was in a different location from that specified in the

Agreement. (Tr. 62-63) Derivaux testified he "had to scoot over a little bit" and put the sign "within a couple of feet probably". *Id.* (In fact, the sign was not within a couple of feet from the location designated in the Agreement, but 10 to 12 feet for the designated location.) (RE-043) (survey of original location of sign and location where "new" sign was erected).

It is thus uncontroverted in the record that Derivaux's sign is *not* at the location specified in the Agreement and thus violates the terms of the Agreement outright. (The Agreement does not speak in terms of an "approximate" location for the sign; it is precise.) Nor was the new location of Derivaux's sign "mutually agreed upon" as per the Agreement. Derivaux's excuse for violating the sign location in the Agreement is that he did not want to bear the expense of removing the concrete base of the original sign. (Tr. 63)

Moreover, without Warren's or Bennigan's permission, Dr. Handley, who shares

Derivaux's building, attached his own sign to Derivaux's sign under a representation from

Derivaux that Handley was permitted to do so. (Exh. D-14 at p. 9) Handley also took the

position that he and his employees had parking rights on Warren's property. (Exh. D-14 at p.

18) The Agreement does not provide Handley with any rights of any kind in Warren's property.

(D-1) Thus, both Handley and Derivaux were using Warren's property in violation of the spirit and terms of the Agreement, insofar as signage and parking was concerned. Handley claims his permission was granted by Derivaux, but such indirect rights are nowhere mentioned or provided for in the Agreement.

Warren initially extended continuing permission to Derivaux for the sign. (Tr. 64) In 1998, Warren notified Derivaux that he could not continue to have the sign on Warren's property unless Derivaux paid a reasonable rent. (Tr. 69) In 2001, the Bennigan's lease terminated (and

with it Bennigan's possession and control of Warren's property), and within five weeks of such termination, Warren, through his counsel, sent Derivaux a certified letter demanding removal of the sign. (Tr. 70; RE-044-045) Derivaux did not respond to the letter (Tr. 142), and refused to comply with Warren's request. (Tr. 71) Warren also revoked parking privileges for Derivaux and Dr. Handley, and demanded payment. (Tr. 73) Warren merely demanded \$250 per month for the parking privilege to defray maintenance costs of over \$1,000 per month for the lot.

Derivaux agreed to pay Warren for parking (Exh. D-13 at p. 103; Tr. 73)¹ but then broke that agreement and stopped payments. (Tr. 74).

Then, in 2005, Warren advised Derivaux that if Derivaux did not remove the sign, Warren was going to remove it. (Tr. 78-79) Derivaux failed to remove the sign. In May of 2005, Warren disconnected electrical power to the sign. In June of 2005, early on a Saturday morning and outside business hours, as was his right in the context of the privilege or license relating to parking or signage, Warren removed the sign. Derivaux filed suit and Warren counterclaimed.

The chancery court erroneously affirmed the following parts of the trial court's ruling: which was based on numerous erroneous findings of fact and conclusions of law including, among others, the following:

- 1. That the cross-parking and sign privileges granted in the Agreement are really easements that are perpetual and applicable to "successors and assigns," notwithstanding that such personal privileges/licenses are revocable by law and are not permanent;
 - 2. That the sign Derivaux erected was "on the same site," despite Derivaux's own

¹Derivaux's agreement is dispositive of his understanding that he had nothing more than a reasonable parking privilege pursuant to the Agreement

admission that the sign was erected in a different location from the sign erected by Derivaux's predecessor-in-title;

- 3. That Derivaux is entitled to erect a sign "at or in close proximity to the location of the sign that was removed," despite indisputable evidence at trial that the removed sign is not at the same location as the original sign, even if one assumes contrary to law that there is some perpetual right of Derivaux to have a sign on Warren's property; and
- 4. That Derivaux suffered a loss of business income, despite the lack of sufficient, probative evidence to demonstrate same.

In doing so, the lower court failed to properly construe the Agreement to provide an access easement and, in addition, revocable parking and sign privilege, as is clear from the four corners of the Agreement. The chancery court's ruling should be reversed and rendered to the extent relief was granted in favor of Derivaux, and this Court should declare the parties' rights under the Agreement to include an access easement and revocable licenses or privileges for signage and parking.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court erred in holding that the Agreement created three easements (one for access, one for signage and one for parking). The terms of the Agreement reflect that it created a single, described access easement for ingress and egress to the properties and, in addition, two licenses or privileges for erection of a business sign and cross-parking.

To create an easement, the document must reflect an intent that is manifest on the face of the instrument such that no other construction can be placed on it. This clearly is not the case with regard to the Agreement's provision for signage and parking. Easements must be described with accuracy and clarity. This is not the case as regards the parking rights established in the agreement. Indeed, the parking rights as to Warren's property are not specifically identified at all and could not be ascertained with specificity in a title search.

To determine what was intended by the parties, the Agreement must be reviewed as a whole and in the context in which it was entered. To the extent there is any ambiguity, these circumstances in which the Agreement was entered must be reviewed, as well as the manner in which the Agreement has been treated by the parties. Derivaux's admitted cavalier treatment of the location of the signage rights as variable is compelling evidence (that stands uncontradicted) that the parties intended to create a sign privilege and not a permanent sign easement. Likewise, as for parking, the absence of a specific description of the parking spaces burdened by the supposed and alleged easement is dispositive of the parties' (Smith's and Warren's) intention to create parking privileges and not a permanent easement. This is further buttressed by the absence of a property description in the Agreement for anything other than the access easement that was created.

In any event, the location of the sign Derivaux erected on Warren's property materially and substantially violates the terms of the Agreement as it relates to signage. Derivaux readily admits he varied the location of his sign from the location provided in the Agreement for his own convenience. The survey in evidence indicates that the sign Derivaux placed on Warren's property is 10 to 12 feet closer to the boundary than specified in the Agreement. The violation is major and cannot be justified in any way.

The lower court further erred in recognizing alleged "lost profits" damages on the record of this case. There was insufficient evidence or testimony of any kind to support such an award. The award was based on evidence that was purely speculative and not legally sufficient to support the court's finding in this regard.

Warren therefore requests that the court reverse and render the lower court's finding that the Agreement created three easements, and order instead that the Agreement created one access easement and, in addition, signage and parking privileges that are revocable by law. Warren further requests that the court reverse and render the lower court's finding that Derivaux is entitled to recover for alleged lost profits. Finally, Warren asks that the court affirm the chancellor's finding that there is no basis for imposition of punitive damages or the related award of attorney fees to the extent that issue is cross-appealed by Derivaux.

ARGUMENT

1. <u>Distinction Between Agreement and License</u>. In order to decide the issues in this case, the Court must interpret the Agreement. Under real property law, a distinction is made between an easement and a personal privilege or license. The Mississippi Supreme Court has clearly differentiated the two:

"Generally, an easement is an interest in the land in and over which it is to be enjoyed and is distinguishable from a license which merely confers a personal privilege to do some act or acts on the land." *Logan v. McGee*, 320 So. 2d 792, 792-93 (Miss. 1975).

Additionally, the court has stated that a license is:

"Nothing more than an excuse for the act, which would otherwise be a trespass." *Hotel Markham, Inc. v. Patterson*, 451 So. 2d 255, 256 (Miss. 1947).

The authors of 25 Am. Jur. 2d, Easements and Licenses, § 15 define the differences as follows:

"A grant of an easement should be drawn and executed with the same formalities as a deed to real estate. Thus, although one can grant an express, irrevocable easement, it must be evidenced by a writing manifesting a clear intent to create an interest in the land. An easement is created if the owner of the servient estate either enters into a contract or makes a conveyance intended to create a servitude that complies with the Statute of Frauds or falls within an exception to the Statute of Frauds."

"As a general rule, to constitute a grant of an easement, any words clearly showing the intention to grant an easement are sufficient. The intent to grant an easement must be so manifest on the face of the instrument, however, that no other construction can be placed on it. Thus, to create an easement by express grant, there must be a writing containing plain and direct language evincing the grantor's intent to create a right in the nature of the easement rather than a license." (Footnotes omitted).

In other words, there must be clear and direct language reflecting unambiguously an intent to create an easement. Mississippi law is in accord with this principle. In *Crawford v. Butler*, 2005 WL 3163511 (Miss. App. 2005) while construing the language of an easement, the

court stated that the rules for the interpretation of deeds and other written instruments apply.

Further in *Moran v. Sims*, 873 So.2d 1067 (Miss. App. 2004), the court held that what is needed in any description of an easement is accuracy and clarity.

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