## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

W.W. WARREN

VS.

**ROBERT DERIVAUX** 

APPELLANT

NO. 2007-CA-905

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF OF APPELLEE, ROBERT DERIVAUX**

Appeal From The Chancery Court For The First Judicial District Of Hinds County, Mississippi

## **ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED**

Stephen J. Carmody, MSB No. Jonathan R. Werne, MSB No. BRUNINI, GRANTHAM, GROWER & HEWES, PLLC 1400 Trustmark Building 248 East Capitol Street Post Office Drawer 119 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 Telephone: 601-948-3101 Facsimile: 601-960-6902

**Counsel for Appellee** 

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### W.W. WARREN

APPELLANT

NO. 2007-CA-905

VS.

STATEMENT OF FACTS				
ARGUMENT				
I. S	TAN	DARD OF REVIEW 10		
	THE COUNTY COURT AND CHANCERY COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED THE RECIPROCAL EASEMENT UNDER MISSISSIPPI LAW			
A	λ.	The Parking Easement Provided by the Reciprocal Easement Is Not Void For Vagueness		
В	3.	The Court Should Interpret Any Ambiguity in Favor of Derivaux 15		
C	<b>C.</b>	The Sign Easement Is Not Void As Variable		
D	).	Sign Location Does Not Violate Signage Easement		
		CIPLES OF EQUITY DEMAND AFFIRMATION OF THE COUNTY COURT'S SION		
А	۱.	Equity Looks To The Intent And Will Regard Substance Rather Than Form 19		
В	3.	Equity Aids The Vigilant And Not Those Who Slumber On Their Rights		
IV. E	EVIDE	ENCE IN RECORD SUPPORTING DAMAGES OF LOST PROFITS		
	THE AGAII	COUNTY COURT CORRECTLY ASSESSED PUNITIVE DAMAGES NST WARREN		
А	<b>.</b>	The Breach of Peace Standard Is Inapplicable To This Case		
В	<b>B.</b>	The Recent Case of Biglane v. Under the Hill Corporation is Distinguishable 27		
CONCLUSION				

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Uases
-------

-

ł

• • • •

ŗ

. ′

:

1.

1.7

: ; ;

.

Benchmark Health Care Ctr., Inc. v. Cain, 912 So. 2d 175 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)
Biglane v. Under The Hill Corp., 949 So. 2d 9 (Miss. 2007)
Bradfield v. Schwartz, 936 So. 2d 931 (Miss. 2006)
Cain v. Cain, No. 2005-CA-00251-COA, 2007 WL 1816047 (Miss. Ct. App. June 26, 2007) 21, 22
Capital Elec. Power Ass'n v. Hinson, 84 So. 2d 409 (Miss. 1956) 15, 16, 17, 18
Crum v. Butler, 601 So. 2d 834 (Miss. 1992)
Davis v. Pearson, 44 Miss. 508 (1870) 19
Dunlap Investors Ltd. v. Hogan, 650 P.2d 432 (Az. 1982)
Facilities, Inc. v. Rogers-Usry Chevrolet, 908 So. 2d 107 (Miss. 2005) 12
Hearn v. Autumn Woods Office Park Prop. Owners Ass'n, 757 So. 2d 155 (Miss. 2000) 12
Ivy v. Gen. Motors Acceptance Corp., 612 So. 2d 1108 (Miss. 1992)
Magee v. Catching, 33 Miss. 672 (1857)
Mickalowski v. Am. Flooring, Inc., No. 2005-CA-01864-COA, 2007 WL 1532564 (Miss. Ct. App. May 29, 2007)
Moran v. Sims, 873 So. 2d 1067 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004)
Mounger v. Pittman, 108 So. 2d 565 (Miss. 1959)
Patel v. Telerent Leasing Corp., 574 So. 2d 3 (Miss. 1990) 10
Pfisterer v. Noble & Cities Serv. Oil Co., 320 So. 2d 383 (Miss. 1975) 12
Pursue Energy Corp. v. Perkins, 558 So. 2d 349 (Miss. 1990)
Rives v. Peterson, 493 So. 2d 316 (Miss. 1986)
Romans v. Fulgham, 939 So. 2d 849 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)
Savage v. Dowd, 54 Miss. 728 (1877) 19
Stampley v. Gilbert, 332 So. 2d 61 (Miss. 1976) 15
Thornhill v. Sys. Fuel, Inc., 523 So. 2d 983, (Miss. 1988)

Tubb v. Monroe County Elec. Power Ass'n, 912 So. 2d 192 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) 11
Webb v. Mearns, 944 So. 2d 917 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) 12
Statutes
Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-65(a)
Miss. Code Ann. § 75-9-503
MISS. CONST. art. VI, § 159
Other Authorities
25 AM. JUR. 2D Easements and Licensures in Real Property § 66
GRIFFITH MISSISSIPPI CHANCERY PRACTICE § 34 (2000 ed.)
JAMES W. ELY, JR. ET AL., LAW OF EASEMENT AND LICENSES IN LAND § 2:3 (Oct. 2005) 12

1 1 1

( `` ;

•

į,

i,

• •

. . . ,

: 1 2

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- The chancery court was correct in affirming the county court's ruling that Appellee Derivaux, and his successors in interest, have a perpetual easement for parking on Appellant Warren's property;
- 2. The chancery court was correct in affirming the county court's holding that Derivaux, and his successors in interest, have a perpetual easement for signage on Appellant Warren's property;
- The chancery court ruled correctly in affirming the county court's award of damages for loss profits to Appellee Derivaux; and
- 4. The chancery court erred in reversing the county court's award of punitive damages to Appellee Derivaux for the egregious and contumacious conduct of Appellant Warren.

ŧ.;

1.3

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In November 1988, Appellee Preston Derivaux ("Derivaux"), purchased an office building located directly adjacent and to the south of the property of Appellant W. W. Warren ("Warren") on the I-55 North Frontage Road, on the west side of I-55, south of Northside Drive in the City of Jackson. (Ex. D-13 at 16, 22).<sup>1</sup> Before purchasing the property, Derivaux consulted with the previous owner of the property (Trustmark National Bank),<sup>2</sup> and a real estate attorney (Richard Lingle), (Tr. 39-44) about a Reciprocal Easement that stipulated parking and signage rights. The parking easement was described by an appraiser of the property as: "A front concrete parking area contains 8 spaces with a perpetual easement for 4 additional parking spaces in the adjacent Bennigan's parking lot." (Ex. P-27 at 7). Derivaux testified that he would not have purchased the property but for the understanding that he could erect and maintain a sign and that he would have additional parking spots for his employees and customers. (Tr. 58). Derivaux, before purchasing the property, reviewed the Reciprocal Easement, studied its terms, and relied on the fact that it contained rights to signage, parking, and ingress and egress and that these rights were vested in the successors in title to the property. (Tr. 58).

Shortly after the purchase, in December 1988, Derivaux met with Warren at the site of Derivaux's new sign. They discussed the Reciprocal Easement and the sign location. Derivaux and Warren mutually agreed on Derivaux's new sign and the cross parking (Tr. 64), and they then shook hands. Derivaux's sign stood in the exact same location from December 1988 until June 2005. (Tr. 60-61).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the transcribed trial testimony shall be designated as "Tr. \_\_\_\_\_." References to exhibits shall be the same as their marking as exhibits at trial (e.g., "P-1" for Plaintiff/Appellee exhibits and "D-1" for Defendant/Appellant exhibits). References to record excerpts are referred herein as "R.E. \_\_\_\_." References to the lower court record shall be designated as "C.R. \_\_\_."

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  Trustmark National Bank became owner of the property after it foreclosed on a loan to Ronald C. Smith, the original signatory to the Reciprocal Easement. (Tr. 46-47).

Under the cover of pre-dawn darkness on Saturday, June 4, 2005, Warren, his son, and a welder assembled their articles of destruction. (Ex. D-13 at 128). They gathered a blow torch, heavy metal chains, a rope, a "come-along," and a truck. (Ex. D-13 at 128, 131-33). They drove up to the business sign owned by Derivaux which had stood undisturbed at the same location for over sixteen years. (Tr. 59-60). They parked their truck, and went to work with their tools of destruction. They cut through the sign's thick metal posts with a blow torch, hooked one end of the chain to the sign and the other end to the pickup truck and used ropes and the "come-along" to yank the twenty-foot-high sign down in the parking lot. (Ex. D-13 at 131-32). After they finished, they left the damaged sign behind. (Ex. D-13 at 131; P-11, P-12, P-13).

The destruction of the sign, a portion of which was located on Derivaux's property, (Tr. 20), was neither the first nor the last time Warren terrorized Derivaux with his malicious and grossly negligent acts. Warren tormented Derivaux's employees and customers causing one of Derivaux's employees to quit because of his harassment. (Tr. 77, 105-106, 115-116). Warren would lean on cars of Derivaux's customers and question them as to why they were in the parking lot. (Tr. 105-106). Warren used profanity in front of Derivaux's employees and customers (Tr. 77), and Warren "cussed" Derivaux numerous times regarding the easements. (Tr. 79-80, 84-85). Shortly before yanking the sign down, despite vehement protestations by Derivaux, Warren and his son intentionally ripped out the wiring for Derivaux's sign. (Ex. P-9, P-10, Tr. 79-80). Afterwards, Warren erected a fence, most of which was located on Derivaux's property, and the fence created a safety hazard for Derivaux, his employees and customers. (Ex. P-18, P-19, P-20, P-22, P-23, P-26, P-32, Tr. 16, 93-95, 96-97, 173). Warren placed concrete

parking barricades restricting Derivaux access to the parking spaces (Ex. P-17, Tr. 89-90), and after being ordered by the county court to remove them, refused to do so.<sup>3</sup>

On or about April 22, 1986, Warren and Derivaux's predecessor in title, Ronald C. Smith ("Smith"), signed a Reciprocal Easement (the "Reciprocal Easement") affecting the two properties. (Ex. D-13 at 35-36, P-1). The Reciprocal Easement was duly executed, notarized and filed with the Chancery Court Clerk at Book 3212, Page 195. (Ex. P-1). The Reciprocal Easement includes a survey which shows the location of the property and the business sign. (Ex. P-1). The survey was filed at Book 3212, Page 199. (Ex. P-1).

Under the provisions of the Reciprocal Easement, the owner of the north property, Warren, was granted perpetual rights of ingress and egress using the new curb cut to the south of Warren's property, which was then owned by Smith. (Ex. P-1). The ingress and egress easement was needed by Warren because his property lost four entrances off of the Frontage Road as a result of eminent domain proceedings instituted by the State Department of Transportation ("DOT") when the DOT renovated the Frontage Road, Northside Drive and Meadowbrook Drive interchanges of I-55. (Ex. D-13 at 25, 27). Smith and his successors in title also were allowed rights of ingress and egress through Warren's property pursuant to the terms of the Reciprocal Easement. (Ex. P-1). During the DOT eminent domain proceedings, in addition to losing four entrances off of I-55 Frontage Road, the Warren property also lost a considerable number of parking spaces. (Ex. D-13 at 33). As a result, reciprocal parking rights were included in the Reciprocal Easement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Warren's response to the Court order was to simply shuffle the barricades around and place them in different locations. (Tr. 90-92). The barricades – even after the shuffle – made it difficult to navigate the parking lot. (Ex. P-33, Tr. 92-93).

In the Reciprocal Easement, Smith and Warren, and "their successors in title," were granted reciprocal rights<sup>4</sup> as follows:

- 3. As to property presently or hereafter owned by W. W. Warren, lying North and adjacent as to <u>Parcel #1 – Fee</u> of Ron C. Smith, it is agreed that parties with business interest may cross-park in four spaces owned by W. W. Warren located South of [Warren Building]; furthermore, that parties with business interest may cross-park in four spaces owned by Ron C. Smith, a part of <u>Parcel</u> <u>#1 – Fee</u>.
- 4. <u>Business Sign</u>. W. W. Warren vests in Ron C. Smith the legal right to erect, maintain and remove upon the property of W. W. Warren which lies 1.5 feet from said Ron C. Smith, North property line, and 35 feet Westward from the Southeast Corner of the W. W. Warren property, a business sign as mutually agreed upon.

(Ex. P-1). There are eight references to the word "easement" in the Reciprocal Easement. (Ex.

P-1). The words "license" or "privilege" do not appear. (Ex. P-1). In fact, the only evidence supporting the claim of privilege or license is Warren's testimony that he and Smith had an oral "side agreement" that controlled the parking and signage issue. (Ex. D-13 at 41). Warren claims that the side agreement was extinguished when Derivaux became the landowner. (Ex. D-13 at 179-80, 182). However, the clear and unambiguous language of the Reciprocal Easement contradicts this oral "side agreement," and the alleged "side agreement" is not supported by any written documentation. (Ex. D-13 at 40-41).

After the execution of the Reciprocal Easement, and consistent with its terms, Smith erected a business sign within one and one-half feet from that north/south property line and thirty-three feet from the northeast/southeast corner of the property. (Ex. 6, Tr. 14, 60, 62-63).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The introductory language to the operative portions of the Reciprocal Easement confirms that the drafters desired to include ingress, egress, parking, and signage as reciprocal perpetual rights. In fact, the Reciprocal Easement contains a colon indicating a series of rights were to follow and be considered reciprocal and perpetual. "Ron C. Smith and W. W. Warren, by these presents, do hereby sell, convey and vest in each other, their successors in title, perpetual easement rights, to wit:" (P-1).

The Smith sign stood at this spot continuously until Derivaux purchased the property in 1988. (Tr. 60-61).

After his purchase, Derivaux took the Smith sign down and erected a new "two pole" sign with his name and the State Farm Insurance logo on it. (Ex. P-3, P-4, P-6, Tr. 59-60). One of the poles was placed near or on the spot left from the removal of the Smith's single-pole sign. (Tr. 62). The sign was erected with both poles either on or within inches from the north/south property line and within the thirty-five feet from the east boundary line – in other words, within the area designated for in the Reciprocal Easement. (Tr. 14, 20, 60, 62-63). Warren discussed the sign with Derivaux and requested that Derivaux get the sign "okayed" by Bennigans, Warren's tenant at the time. (Tr. 64-65). Bennigans' manager approved the sign. (Tr. 65).

After he purchased the property, Derivaux began using the property as his office for his insurance business. Pursuant to his rights under the Reciprocal Easement, Derivaux, his employees, and his customers used the ingress and egress easement as well as the four parking spaces north of his property. (Tr. 68). The parking spots they normally used were the ones closest to the front door of Derivaux's business. (Tr. 65-66).

From 1988 until approximately April 2002, Derivaux and his customers continuously used the four parking spaces. (Tr. 68). In or around April 2002, after more than fourteen years of continued uninterrupted use, Warren erected a chain and blocked Derivaux's access to the four parking spaces and demanded payment for parking. (Tr. 72-74). Derivaux made one \$250 payment to Warren, and the chain was taken down. (Tr. 73, 75). Derivaux then consulted a lawyer, who confirmed that he had a legal right under the Reciprocal Easement to use the parking spaces without having to pay for them. (Tr. 74). Derivaux thereafter made no further payments to Warren, and he and his customers continued to use the parking spaces. (Tr. 75). Warren took no action to enforce his "purported" rights to payment.

÷ -

From December 1988 until June 4, 2005, Derivaux's sign stood in place on the property, within the area designated by the Reciprocal Easement. On or about May 31, 2005, without notice to Derivaux, Warren disconnected the power to the sign. (Ex. P-9, P-10, Tr. 79-80). At the time Warren was disconnecting the power, Derivaux gave Warren a copy of the Reciprocal Easement and demanded that he stop tampering with the sign. (Tr. 79). Warren "cussed" Derivaux. (Tr. 79-80). Warren did not respond to Derivaux's statement that he could erect and maintain his business sign under the terms of the Easement. Instead, Warren took matters into his own hands. He yanked the sign down, damaging it, and curtly dumped it in the parking lot. (Ex. P-11, P-12, P-13, Tr. 82-85). Other than the 2001 letter<sup>5</sup> written four years before, there was no written complaint, and there was no written notice about the imminent removal of the sign. (Ex. D-5, Tr. 69-70).

The record evidence confirms that Derivaux's sign was located at least partially on his own property. (Tr. 20). Warren admitted there was a dispute as to who owned the property on which the sign was located. (Ex. D-13 at 171). Warren claimed that he believed he owned the property where the sign was located, and he acknowledged that Derivaux believed Derivaux owned the same. (Ex. D-13 at 171). In his sworn testimony, Warren admitted that the property line was in dispute: "[Derivaux has] always said he owned it. I'm not denying that. Every time I talked to him, [Derivaux stated,] I own that property." (Ex. D-13 at 171).

Warren also confirmed that he never obtained a survey after learning that the ownership was in dispute. Warren testified in his deposition, "[w]hen [Bennigan's] left, I got possession of the property within five weeks or so. I dropped them a letter asking [Derivaux] to move his sign.

έĴ

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> After Bennigan's terminated its lease with Warren and vacated the property, Warren sent a letter demanding the sign's removal within ten days. (Ex. D-5). Derivaux refused to move the sign and Warren shortly thereafter leased the property and nothing more was said about the sign until four years later when it was destroyed and removed by Warren.

... He still said he owned the property, though." (Ex. D-13 at 71-72). When asked if he ever obtained a "survey to determine whether or not he owned the property where his sign was located?" Warren responded, "[n]o, no, no. I already knew where my property line was." (Ex. D-13 at 71).

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